# Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

1-9-2013

## Ashton Urban Renewal Agency v Ashton Memorial Appellant's Brief Dckt. 40348

#### I. Statement of the Case

#### A. Nature of the Case

This is an appeal of a district court decision reversing the Idaho Board of Tax Appeals (BTA) holding that the Ashton Urban Renewal Agency lacked standing to challenge a property tax exemption granted by the Fremont County Board of Equalization because it was not a "person aggrieved" under I.C. § 63-511.

#### B. The Course of Proceedings Below

On January 19, 2011, Ashton Memorial, Inc. (Ashton Memorial) filed for tax exemptions with the Fremont County Board of Equalization. The Ashton Urban Renewal Agency (hereinafter AURA) opposed that request. On July 8, 2011, the Board of Equalization granted the tax exemption. On August 9, 2012, AURA appealed the tax exemption to the Idaho Board of Tax Appeals (BTA). Ashton Memorial filed an Answer, which included, among other defenses, the assertion that AURA lacked standing to appeal the exemptions. On November 29, 2011, the BTA entered its *Final Order Dismissing Appeals*. (BTA R. p. 22-25) The BTA ruled that AURA lacked standing to appeal the tax exemption as it was not an aggrieved person under I.C. § 63-511. On January 5, 2012, the BTA denied AURA's request for reconsideration. (BTA R. p. 55-56) On February 2, 2012, AURA filed a petition for judicial review with the district court. (R. p. 4-5) The issue was briefed and the district court heard argument. On August 10, 2012, the district court issued its Decision on Review in which it reversed the BTA's decision and remanded the matter to the BTA for consideration on the merits. (R. p. 100-112) On September 18, 2012, Ashton Memorial filed its Notice of Appeal. (R. p. 113-115) The Clerk's Record did

#### **APPELLANTS' BRIEF - Page 1**

not initially include the BTA's record and the parties stipulated to its inclusion in the record.

They subsequently stipulated to paginate the BTA's record for ease of reference.

#### C. Statement of the Facts

Ashton Memorial Inc. is an Idaho Corporation doing business as Ashton Living Center in Ashton, Idaho. Ashton Memorial provides assisted living services, medical care and nursing care. Ashton Memorial applied for a property tax exemption for the 2011 tax year pursuant to I.C. § 63-602C and was granted an exemption.

The Ashton Urban Renewal Agency (AURA) is an urban renewal agency created pursuant to the Idaho Urban Renewal Law of 1965, title 50, chapter 20, Idaho Code, as amended and the Local Economic Development Act, title 50, chapter 29, Idaho Code, as amended. Ashton Memorial has real and personal property located within the revenue allocation area of AURA. AURA receives funds from levied taxes pursuant to I.C. § 50-2908 and has appealed the tax exemption granted to Ashton Memorial.

#### D. Standard of Review

When a district court conducts a trial de novo in an appeal of a BTA decision, the Idaho Supreme Court defers to the district court's findings of fact that are supported by substantial evidence, but exercises free review over the district court's conclusions of law. *Kimbrough v. Idaho Bd. of Tax Appeals*, 150 Idaho 417, 419-420, 247 P.3d 644, 646 - 647 (2011). In this case, the district court did not conduct a trial, but rather ruled as a matter of law that AURA was entitled to appeal to the BTA pursuant to I.C. § 63-511(1) as it qualified as a *person aggrieved* and remanded the matter to the BTA for consideration on its merits. The interpretation of a

statute is a question of law which this Court freely reviews. Id.

#### II. Issues of Appeal

- A. Is AURA a "person aggrieved" pursuant to I.C. § 63-511 and thus, entitled to appeal the Board of Equalization's decision granting Ashton Memorial tax exempt status?
- B. Did the district court have jurisdiction to hear AURA's appeal from the BTA when AURA failed to provide notice of the petition to Fremont County as required by I.R.C.P. 84(b)(1)?

#### III. Argument

A. AURA is not a "person aggrieved" pursuant to I.C. § 63-511(1) as it is only entitled to receive, pursuant to I.C. § 50-2908, "the balance, if any, of funds from taxes levied on taxable property" and as such, has no interest in unlevied taxes.

The right to appeal a decision of a county Board of Equalization is described in I.C. § 63-511(1) which reads as follows:

Any time within thirty (30) days after mailing of notice of a decision of the board of equalization, or pronouncement of a decision announced at a hearing, an appeal of any act, order or proceeding of the board of equalization, or the failure of the board of equalization to act may be taken to the board of tax appeals. Such appeal may only be filed by the property owner, the assessor, the state tax commission or by a person aggrieved when he deems such action illegal or prejudicial to the public interest. Nothing in this section shall be construed so as to suspend the payment of property taxes pending said appeal.

(Emphasis added). AURA is not the property owner, assessor, or state tax commissioner, and has asserted that it is a *person aggrieved* under the statute. The statute does not define *person* 

aggrieved. Both BTA and the district court relied on Idaho Supreme Court cases interpreting similar language in other statutes. In 1898, the Idaho Supreme Court addressed the issue of when a party is aggrieved and entitled to appeal in State v. Eves, 6 Idaho 144, 53 P. 543 (1898). In Eves, the state brought an action to enforce a statute that allowed the state to receive damages when a suit was brought on a contract in which the rate of interest was higher than allowed by statute. Id. 6 Idaho at 144-145, 53 P. 543 -544. Idaho brought the suit nearly three years after Eves had received a judgment on a contract whose interest rate exceeded that allowed by statute. Id. The Idaho Supreme Court ruled that the statute authorizing the penalty did not authorize a separate suit and dismissed the appeal. *Id.* In doing so, it explained the procedure the state should have followed to enforce the penalty. *Id.* The Court explained that when the state sought to enforce the penalty in a case in which a judgment had already been granted on a contract with a rate greater than allowed that the "correct practice is for the state on behalf of the county to make a proper showing upon notice to all parties to the record, and move to have such judgment modified so as to make it conform to the provisions of [the statute]; and, if the court denies such motion, to appeal from the order denying the same." Id. The Court then went on to explain that the state would be entitled to appeal even though it was not a party of record to the original case. The Court stated as follows:

Section 4802, Rev. St., provides that any party aggrieved may appeal in the cases prescribed in the Code; and, when it is made to appear, as provided by said section 1266, that a suit is brought on a usurious contract, it then becomes the duty of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The phrase *person aggrieved* or similar language appears in at least eleven other locations in Title 63 in reference to the right to appeal or seek reconsideration: I.C. §§ 63-409, 63-711(4), 63-1006(4), 63-1404(5), 63-2516, 63-2563, 63-2708, 63-3074, 63-3812, 63-4208(b), 63-4208(c).

court to render a judgment as therein directed. If the court refuses to do so, the state, on behalf of the county in which the suit is brought, is an aggrieved party, and is entitled to an appeal, the same as any party to the suit. But we think the better practice is to make the proper motion to correct or modify the erroneous judgment, and, in case such motion be denied, appeal from the order denying the same. This method of procedure calls the matter directly to the attention of the court, and would, no doubt, in many cases prevent the costs and delay of an appeal. Section 4802, Rev. St., is the same as section 938, Code Civ. Proc. Cal., and under that section the supreme court of that state have held in *Adams v*. Woods, 8 Cal. 306, that a party aggrieved by a judgment has the right of appeal although he is not a party to the record; and it is laid down as a general rule that no one who is not a party or privy to a judgment or prejudiced thereby has the right of appeal. The test as to whether a party is aggrieved or not is: "Would the party have had the thing if the erroneous judgment had not been entered? If the answer be yea, he is a party aggrieved." In the case at bar, had not an erroneous judgment been entered, judgment in favor of the state would have been entered for the amount of the penalty provided.

*Id.* After having explained how the matter should have been handled, the Court dismissed the state's appeal and awarded costs to Eves. *Id.* 

In the other case cited by the BTA and the district court, *Application of Fernan Lake Village*, 80 Idaho 412, 331 P.2d 278 (1958), the city of Coeur d'Alene appealed a decision by the Kootenai County Commission incorporating Fernan Lake Village. The appeal was taken pursuant to I.C. § 31-1509 which at the time read in relevant part, as follows:

Any time within twenty days after the first publication or posting of the statement, as required by section 31-819, an appeal may be taken from any act, order or proceeding of the board, by any person aggrieved thereby, or by any taxpayer of the county when any demand is allowed against the county or when he deems any such act, order or proceeding illegal or prejudicial to the public interests[.]

*Id.* 80 Idaho at 414, 331 P.2d at 279. The city asserted that the proposed village abutted the boundary of Coeur d'Alene, that the village was shaped in a bizarre and irregular manner, that its shape was created for the sole purpose of meeting the resident requirements, that the creation of

the village would hamper the natural growth of the city, and that, by creating a precedent, it would strangle the natural growth of the city. *Id.* Despite the city's assertion that it would be harmed by the incorporation of the proposed village, the Idaho Supreme Court determined that the city was not a person aggrieved and not entitled to bring an appeal.

AURA's position in this matter is similar to the city in *Fernan Lake*. Like the city, it alleges that another governmental entity has taken an action that will do it harm and seeks to prevent the action. Also, like the city in *Fernan Lake*, it can point to no statute that authorizes its participation in the matter and must rely on its assertion that it is a *person aggrieved*. In *Fernan Lake*, the Supreme Court stated that "a party or person is aggrieved . . . when, and only when, it operates directly and injuriously upon his personal, pecuniary, or property rights[.]" In this case, AURA cannot be aggrieved by the Board of Equalization's decisions regarding tax exemptions or appraisals because, pursuant to the Idaho Code, urban renewal agencies have no right to unlevied taxes.

An urban renewal agency's right to receive tax revenue is controlled by I..C. § 50-2908(2). It makes clear that the urban renewal agencies do not have the right to a specific amount of funds, but rather, receive whatever funds are available after taxes are levied and after the taxing district, has received its allotment. Subsection (2) of I.C. § 50-2908 reads as follows:

- (2) With respect to each such taxing district, the tax rate calculated under subsection (1) of this section shall be applied to the current equalized assessed valuation of all taxable property in the taxing district, including the taxable property in the revenue allocation area. The tax revenues thereby produced shall be allocated as follows:
  - (a) To the taxing district shall be allocated and shall be paid by the county treasurer:
    - (i) All taxes levied by the taxing district or on its behalf on taxable

- property located within the taxing district but outside the revenue allocation area;
- (ii) A portion of the taxes levied by the taxing district or on its behalf on the taxable property located within the revenue allocation area, which portion is the amount produced by applying the taxing district's tax rate determined under subsection (1) of this section to the equalized assessed valuation, as shown on the base assessment roll, of the taxable property located within the revenue allocation area; and
- (iii) All taxes levied by the taxing district to satisfy obligations specified in subsection (1)(a) through (e) of this section.
- (b) To the urban renewal agency shall be allocated the balance, if any, of the taxes levied on the taxable property located within the revenue allocation area.

(Emphasis added). The statute makes clear urban renewal agencies are to receive only the available balance after the taxing district has received its allocations. It also specifically anticipates that there may be no available balance and urban renewal agencies may receive no allocation. AURA cannot be aggrieved when it has no right to the property it was supposedly deprived of.

The district court and AURA err in asserting that AURA has some interest in the tax revenues generated from Ashton Memorial's property distinct from that of all other citizens or governmental subdivisions whose budgets or allocations may be diminished due to the Board of Equalization's grant of an exemption. AURA's interest in these funds is identical to that of all other governmental entities that receive some portion of the tax money paid by Ashton Memorial. If AURA is entitled to challenge a tax exemption or appraisal on the basis that it deprives it of expected funds, the same can be said for a library district, cemetery district, school district, or any other governmental entity to whom funds flow. The district court recognized this would be the logical consequence of its decision, but determined that this concern was

outweighed by the need to protect AURA given its "unique and vulnerable funding status" as an urban renewal district. (R. p. 110) However, if the legislature intended for all governmental agencies to have the right to appeal tax decisions that affect them, it would have so stated. As shown in the district court's discussion of decisions relating to Missouri and North Dakota decisions, other states have done so. (R. p. 107-108). In addition, the Idaho Legislature has done so in other similar situations. For example, county assessors are expressly authorized to appeal assessments by the state tax commission on operating property in the assessor's county. I.C. § 63-409. However, this court has determined that the assessor's right to appeal is limited to assessments only and does not extend to the right to appeal a state tax commission decision classifying property as operating or non-operating. *Union Pacific Land Resources Corp. v. Shoshone County Assessor*, 140 Idaho 528, 96 P.3d 629 (2004). Idaho Code section 63-511 specifically authorizes appeals by a county assessor and the state tax commission. If the legislature had intended other governmental entities to have the right to appeal exemption and valuation decisions of county boards of equalization, it would have so stated.

B. The district court erred in ruling that denying AURA the right to appeal the Board of Equalization's decision would violate the principles of due process and equal protection because AURA has no right to tax monies until such time as the taxes are levied and allocated to other public entities and because it is a subdivision of the state to whom these constitutional protections do not apply.

The district court erred when it ruled that denying AURA standing would violate the principles of due process and equal protections. R. p. 109-110. The first step in an analysis of due process is to determine if the person has a threatened property or liberty interest. *Smith v. Meridian Joint School Dist. No. 2*, 128 Idaho 714, 722, 918 P.2d 583, 591 (1996). AURA cannot

be entitled to due process regarding Ashton Memorial's tax exemption unless it has a property interest in the nonlevied taxes. Idaho Code section 50-2908 makes clear that urban renewal agencies are to receive funds from taxes actually levied and only after the taxing district has received its allocation. The statute anticipates that the urban renewal agency may receive no allocation whatsoever. Given I.C. § 50-2908, the district court erred in relying on the due process and equal protection because AURA had no property or liberty interest in the taxes not levied.

In addition, the district court erred in ruling that AURA is entitled to due process and equal protection guarantees as against the state of Idaho. AURA and all urban renewal agencies are subdivisions of the state created to exercise powers held by the state and as such, state actions in relation to urban renewal agencies are not restrained by due process or equal protections concerns. I.C. § 50-2002; *Morial v. Smith & Wesson Corp.*, 785 So.2d 1, 12-13, (La.. 2001) (citing Risty v. Chicago, R.I. & P. Ry. Co., 270 U.S. 378, 390, 46 S.Ct. 236, 240 (1926) ("The power of the state and its agencies over municipal corporations within its territory is not restrained by the provisions of the Fourteenth Amendment.")); *Avon Lake City Sch. Dist. v. Limbach*, 35 Ohio St. 3d 118, 121, 518 N.E.2d 1190, 1192 (1988) (citing *Hunter v. Pittsburgh*, 207 U.S. 161, 28 S.Ct. 40, 52 L.Ed. 151 (1907).

C. The district court did not have jurisdiction to consider the appeal as AURA failed to properly appeal by failing to provide notice of the appeal to Fremont County.

The district court did not have jurisdiction to consider the appeal because AURA failed to perfect its appeal as required by I.C. § 63-3812(a) and I.R.C.P. 84. Compliance with the

& Cattle Co., 97 Idaho 427, 433, 546 P.2d 382, 388 (1976) (citing Blinzler v. Andrews, 95 Idaho 769, 519 P.2d 438 (1973)). This requirement is applicable in appeals to the district court as well as in appeals to the Supreme Court. *Id.* 

The process of appealing from the BTA to the district court is set out in I.C. § 63-3812(a) of which reads as follows:

The appeal shall be taken and perfected in accordance with rule 84 of the Idaho rules of civil procedure.

Rule 84 of the Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure is a lengthy rule that sets out procedures and standards applicable to juridical review of state agency and local government actions. One of the requirements in filing of an appeal is providing notice to other parties to the proceeding. Rule 84(b)(1) includes the following:

Judicial review is commenced by filing a petition for judicial review with the district court, and the petitioner shall concurrently serve copies of the notice of petition for judicial review upon the agency whose action will be reviewed and all other parties to the proceeding before the agency (if there were parties to the proceeding). Proof of service on the agency and all parties shall be filed with the court in the form required by Rule 5(f).

(Emphasis added). In this case, AURA failed to serve copies of its notice of petition for judicial review on Fremont County, who had been a party to the proceeding before the BTA. (R. p. 9-10.) AURA served the BTA and counsel for Ashton Memorial. *Id.* Neither Fremont County, nor the Fremont County Board of Equalization was given notice or an opportunity to participate in the proceedings before the district court. Fremont County was a party to the proceeding before the BTA. It was listed on the proof of service on all documents filed by Ashton Memorial,

AURA, and the BTA. (BTA R. 18, 20, 25, 27, 34, 38, 44, 53, 56.) AURA did not include the Fremont County assessor, the Fremont County Board of Equalization, nor the Fremont County prosecuting attorney, as parties to the appeal to the district court, nor provide them notice of the appeal. (R. p. 9-10.) Because Fremont County failed to property perfect its appeal pursuant to I.R.C.P. 64(b)(1), the district court did not have jurisdiction to hear the appeal.

#### IV. Conclusion

Because AURA is not a person aggrieved pursuant to I.C. § 63-511 and because AURA did not properly perfect its appeal, the Court should reverse the district court's decision and dismiss AURA's appeal.