# Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

2-7-2013

## Ashton Urban Renewal Agency v Ashton Memorial Respondent's Brief Dckt. 40348

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### A. Standards of Review

The Agency generally agrees with Ashton Living Center's statement regarding the standard of review and only adds the following context. The Order Governing Procedure on Review entered by the District Court on April 2, 2012, established the briefing schedule. (R., pp. 24-25.) As the issue before the District Court was statutory interpretation, the parties did not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Idaho Code § 63-511 and the IDAPA provisions governing proceedings before the BTA do not identify Fremont County as a party to the proceedings before the BTA. Further, the statutes and rules provide no guidance on who from the County would appear: the Fremont County Auditor, the Fremont County Assessor, or the Fremont County Prosecuting Attorney.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Procedurally, this is a deviation from the method of review set forth in Rule 84(e) of the Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure and Idaho Code § 63-3812, which contemplates that review of this matter should have been *de novo*. See I.R.C.P. 84(e) and I.C. 63-3812.

object to solely relying on the BTA record. The District Court reviewed the standing issue *de novo*. (See R., pp. 100-112.)

#### B. The Agency Has Standing as a "Person Aggrieved" under Idaho Code § 63-511.

#### 1. The Agency is a "person aggrieved."

Idaho Code § 63-511(1) provides an appeal from a decision of the county board of equalization "may only be filed by the property owner, the assessor, the state tax commission or by a person aggrieved when he deems such action illegal or prejudicial to the public interest." (Emphasis added.) "Person aggrieved" is not a defined term under title 63, Idaho Code, and the use of this term in this statutory provision has not been further explained and/or interpreted by case law. Under title 63, Idaho Code, "person" is broadly defined and means "any entity, individual, corporation, partnership, firm, association, limited liability company, limited liability partnership or other such entities as recognized by the state of Idaho." I.C. § 63-201(18). The Agency, as an entity of statutory creation, is an "independent public body corporate and politic" and is, therefore, a person within the meaning of the statute. See I.C. § 50-2006(a).

In interpreting a statute similar to Idaho Code § 63-511, the Idaho Supreme Court analyzed the meaning of "aggrieved," stating:

Broadly speaking, a party or person is aggrieved by a decision when, and only when, it operates directly and injuriously upon his personal, pecuniary, or property rights.

**RESPONDENT'S BRIEF - 8** 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> In the Decision on Review, the District Court stated: "Here apparently because this matter is primarily an issue of statutory interpretation, neither party sought to present additional evidence and based their arguments entirely on the agency record." (R., p. 103.) Procedurally, this is a deviation from the method of review set forth in Rule 84(e) of the Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure and Idaho Code § 63-3812, which contemplates that review of this matter should have been tried on a new record. See I.R.C.P. 84(e) and I.C 63-3812.

... To render a party aggrieved by an order, so as to entitle him to appeal therefrom, the right invaded must be immediate, not merely some possible, remote consequence, or mere possibility arising from some unknown and future contingency; although it has been held that an immediate pecuniary damage is not always prerequisite to the right of appeal.

Application of Fernan Lake Village, 80 Idaho 412, 415, 331 P.2d 278, 279 (1958), citing 4 C.J.S. Appeal and Error § 183 b, pp. 559 and 561. 12 Further, the Court in Fernan Lake cited to a long-standing test for determining whether a party is aggrieved: "Would the party have had the thing if the erroneous judgment had not been entered? If the answer be yea, he is a party aggrieved." Id. at 415, 331 P.2d at 279-280, citing State v. Eves, 6 Idaho 144, 148, 53 P. 543, 544 (1898). The answer to this question is undoubtedly yes: had the BOE properly denied the request for property tax exemption, the Agency would have been statutorily entitled to revenue allocation funds in the estimated amount of \$43,477 pursuant to Idaho Code § 50-2908. (BTA R., pp. 36-37.) As set forth in great detail in the Statement of Facts, the immediate consequence of the exemption on the Agency could not be more direct or immediate; but for the exemption, the Agency would receive approximately \$43,477.06 in revenue allocation funds. (BTA R., p. 37.) The Agency has suffered pecuniary harm by the decision granting Ashton Living Center property tax exemption. (BTA R., pp. 35-38.) Further, it is undisputed that but for the exemption, the Agency would receive the property taxes collected on the increment value from

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> The meaning of "aggrieved" as described in *Fernan Lake* is also consistent with the definition of "aggrieved party," which means "[a] party entitled to a remedy; esp., a party whose personal, pecuniary, or property rights have been adversely affected by another person's actions or by a court's decree or judgment. — Also termed *party aggrieved*; *person aggrieved*." Black's Law Dictionary (9<sup>th</sup> ed. 2009), party.

the Ashton Living Center property pursuant to Idaho Code § 50-2908. The impact of the exemption on the Agency could not be more immediate.

Ashton Living Center's argument that the granting of the exemption cuts off the Agency's entitlement to the property taxes on the increment only weighs in favor of a finding that the Agency is a "person aggrieved." It was the granting of the exemption that caused the pecuniary harm to the Agency. Ashton Living Center cannot argue that even without the granting of the exemption, the Agency would not be entitled to funds. It is uncontested that if the Ashton Living Center is found to be a taxable property, then the Agency would receive the property taxes on the increment value from that property. *See* I.C. § 50-2908.

Ashton Living Center's argument that an urban renewal agency will never have standing to contest the improper granting of property tax exemption on a property within a revenue allocation area pursuant to certain language in Idaho Code § 50-2908 is without merit and is not the standard. Idaho Code § 63-511(1) provides an appeal from a decision of the County board of equalization may be filed by a "person aggrieved when he deems such action illegal or prejudicial to the public interest." It cannot be that injured urban renewal agencies do not have a remedy. The impact of exemptions, especially those that might not be proper, is devastating. To assert an agency lacks standing to oppose the granting of a property tax exemption is simply inaccurate and is contrary to the language in Idaho Code § 63-511(1). The Ashton Living Center fails to identify who would constitute a "person aggrieved" and essentially requests this language be read out of the statute, which is contrary to the principles of statutory construction. *See State* v. *Mercer*, 143 Idaho 108, 109, 138 P.3d 308, 309 (2006) ("In determining the ordinary meaning

of a statute 'effect must be given to all the words of the statute if possible, so that none will be void, superfluous, or redundant.' ").

It is important to consider the Agency established the revenue allocation area in 1996. The new Ashton Living Center facility was built in the revenue allocation area in 2002. The Ashton Living Center was aware it was building in the revenue allocation area. The Ashton Living Center was not exempt and paid property taxes for calendar years 2002 through 2009<sup>13</sup>. The Agency relied on and budgeted for receipt of those funds. The Agency had a realistic expectation of continued receipt of those funds.

The Agency meets the requirements of a "person aggrieved" as that term is further defined in *Application of Fernan Lake Village* and *State v. Eves. Application of Fernan Lake Village*, 80 Idaho 412, 415, 331 P.2d 278, 279 (1958) and *State v. Eves*, 6 Idaho 144, 148, 53 P. 543, 544 (1898). The Agency has suffered immediate pecuniary harm due to the improper granting of the property tax exemption, which is sufficient to provide the Agency with standing to contest the granting of the property tax exemption.

2. The substantial decrease to the Agency's revenue caused by the exemption is "prejudicial to the public interest" under Idaho Code § 63-511(1).

As identified by the District Court in its Decision on Review, the Idaho Legislature has made certain findings identifying the public policy considerations regarding the role of urban renewal:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> The BOE granted property tax exemption to the Ashton Living Center for calendar years 2010 and 2011. As the Agency is not provided notice of exemption applications and/or assessment appeals impacting properties within the revenue allocation area, the Agency was not aware of the exemption granted to the Ashton Living Center in 2010 until it received its funds in 2011.

It is hereby found and declared that there exist in municipalities of the state deteriorated and deteriorating areas (as herein defined) which constitute a serious and growing menace, injurious to the public health, safety, morals and welfare of the residents of the state; that the existence of such areas contributes substantially and increasingly to the spread of disease and crime, constitutes an economic and social liability imposing onerous municipal burdens which decrease the tax base and reduce tax revenues, substantially impairs or arrests the sound growth of municipalities, retards the provision of housing accommodations, aggravates traffic problems and substantially impairs or arrests the elimination of traffic hazards and the improvement of traffic facilities; and that the prevention and elimination of these conditions is a matter of state policy and state concern in order that the state and its municipalities shall not continue to be endangered by areas which are focal centers of disease, promote juvenile delinquency, and consume an excessive proportion of its revenue because of the extra services required for police, fire, accident, hospitalization and other forms of public protection, services and facilities.

. . .

It is further found and declared that the powers conferred by this act are for public uses and purposes for which public money may be expended as herein provided and the power of eminent domain and police power exercised; and that the necessity in the public interest for the provisions herein enacted is hereby declared as a matter of legislative determination.

(I.C. § 50-2002; see also R., pp. 106-107.)

The public has an interest in seeing the Plan implemented by the Agency. Any substantial impact to an Agency's source of revenue may jeopardize funding of projects outlined in the Plan, which constitutes prejudice to the public interest. Further, an improperly granted property tax exemption is "prejudicial to the public interest" as exemptions are not favored under the law. I.C. § 63-511. "Idaho case law requires that all tax exemption statutes be strictly and narrowly construed against the taxpayer, who must show a clear entitlement, and in favor of the

construction where not specifically authorized." *Ada County Assessor v. Roman Catholic Diocese of Boise*, 123 Idaho 425, 428, 849 P.2d 98, 101 (1993). Additionally, "[t]ax exemptions exist as a matter of legislative grace, epitomizing the antithesis of traditional democratic notions of fairness, equality, and uniformity." *Id.* at 429, 849 P.2d at 102. It is in the interests of the public to make sure the proper process is used in analyzing a request for property tax exemption.

The Agency contends the BOE erroneously granted the exemption to Ashton Living Center, which ultimately resulted in the Agency's loss of revenue. The Agency further contends the Ashton Living Center failed to clearly establish a right of exemption. An appeal regarding the granting of a property tax exemption, while contemplated by the statute and rules, appears to be unusual. *See* Idaho Code § 63-511(1) and (4); *see also* IDAPA 36.01.01.046.02(c). However, it is in the public's interest to challenge circumstances where an exemption may have been improperly granted, especially as the nature of an exemption takes value from the tax rolls.

## 3. The Agency's interests are unique and are not adequately protected by others.

The Agency agrees with the District Court's analysis of Ashton Living Center's contention that the Agency's interests are adequately protected by others. (R., pp. 108-109.)

Idaho Code § 63-511 states an "appeal may only be filed by the property owner, the assessor, the state tax commission or by a person aggrieved when he deems such action illegal or prejudicial to the public interest." I.C. 63-511. The Agency's interests are not protected by the Fremont County Assessor or the State Tax Commission ("STC"). In fact, the Fremont County Assessor and the STC do not have any incentive to act on behalf of the Agency. There is no statutory or

common law obligation imposed on the Fremont County Assessor or the STC to protect the interests of the Agency. The Agency also notes this appeal is not based on a valuation issue, which would concern the Fremont County Assessor. Furthermore, "[i]n determining the ordinary meaning of a statute effect must be given to all the words of the statute if possible, so that none will be void, superfluous, or redundant." *State v. Mercer*, 143 Idaho 108, 109, 138 P.3d 308, 309 (2006), *citing In re Winton Lumber Company*, 57 Idaho 131, 136, 63 P.2d 664, 666 (1936) (emphasis added). Ashton Living Center's interpretation of Idaho Code § 63-511 attempts to read the "person aggrieved" language out of the statute. The statute does not state only the property owner, the assessor, or STC has standing to appeal.

It is unrealistic to assume the STC monitors every exemption filing in each county. More specifically, the statutes grant authority to Fremont County to determine whether an entity is entitled to an exemption under I.C. § 63-602C; the statutes do not contemplate review by the STC. Further, to require the Agency to go through the Fremont County Assessor or STC is not required or anticipated by Idaho Code § 63-511, and the Fremont County Assessor and the STC have no obligation to pursue the Agency's claims.

The implication of Ashton Living Center's argument is that an agency impacted by an improper decision of a county board of equalization has no remedy, which is not supported by Idaho Code § 63-511 or Idaho case law. The Agency has independently met the standing requirements of a person aggrieved and, therefore, has standing to appeal.

Under the facts and circumstances of this case, the Agency is not similarly situated to the other taxing districts and is primarily impacted by the exemption. Unlike taxing districts, urban

renewal agencies have no authority to levy taxes and are unable to minimize or mitigate the reduction to their revenue stream. Additionally, the Ashton Living Center was constructed in the revenue allocation area in 2002, approximately six (6) years after the area was established, rendering any increase in value to the ground and the value of all personal property to be allocated to increment value, which derivative funds ultimately flow to the Agency. The overlapping taxing districts are impacted minimally as they are only entitled to proceeds from the levy on the base value.

## C. The District Court Correctly Held That Denial of Standing to the Agency Violates the Constitutional Principles of Due Process and Equal Protection.

Contrary to the assertions of the Ashton Living Center, the Agency is an "independent public body corporate and politic," which is "entirely separate and distinct from the municipality." Idaho Code § 50-2006(a) and (b)(3). It is well established that an Agency is not the alter ego of a city. See Urban Renewal Agency of City of Rexburg v. Hart, 148 Idaho 299, 222 P.3d 467 (2009); see also Boise Redevelopment Agency v. Yick Kong Corp., 94 Idaho 876, 499 P.2d 575 (1972). The Idaho Supreme Court has also held that an Agency is not a subdivision of the state within the meaning of Article VIII, §§ 3 and 4 of the Idaho Constitution. See Yick Kong, 94 Idaho at 882, 499 P.2d at 581. The Agency lacks the authority to levy taxes and, therefore, is unable to mitigate the loss of revenues stemming from the transfer of the Ashton Living Center property to exempt status. If the Agency is unable to challenge the BOE's grant of property tax exemption to the Ashton Living Center, then there is no way to test the merits of whether the exemption was properly made, and the BOE's decision on the issue is final and not subject to any review. See Independent School Dist. No. 1 v. Common School Dist. No. 1

56 Idaho 426, 55 P.2d 144 (1936) (Court held districts that did not receive their proportionate share of funds could maintain an action against the district which received more than its share, in part concluding that if a district cannot prosecute such an action, then there would be no way to correct the wrong or misapplication of funds). As set forth in great deal above, the Agency had a continued expectation that it would receive revenues from the increment value of the Ashton Living Center. The only method for recovery of the lost revenue is through an appeal. The Agency is not an agent of the State, and the Agency agrees with the District Court's analysis of this issue concluding the Agency is entitled to due process and equal protection.

#### D. The District Court Had Proper Jurisdiction over this Matter.

The Agency properly perfected its appeal by timely filing its petition for judicial review with the District Court. Rule 84(b)(1) of the Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure states, in pertinent part:

Judicial review is commenced by filing a petition for judicial review with the district court, and the petitioner shall concurrently serve copies of the notice of petition for judicial review upon the agency whose action will be reviewed and all other parties to the proceeding before the agency (if there were parties to the proceeding). Proof of service on the agency and all parties shall be filed with the court in the form required by Rule 5(f).

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